

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

Journal of Chromatography B, 815 (2005) 77-95

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

High-throughput and multiplexed protein array technology: protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions

Review

Vehary Sakanyan^{a,b,*}

^a Biotechnologie, Biocatalyse et Biorégulation, UMR CNRS 6204, Faculté des Sciences et Techniques, Université de Nantes, 2 rue de la Houssinière, F-44322 Nantes Cedex 3, France ^b ProtNeteomix, Nantes, France

> Received 2 July 2004; accepted 6 August 2004 Available online 27 September 2004

Abstract

Miniaturized protein arrays address protein interactions with various types of molecules in a high-throughput and multiplexed fashion. This review focuses on achievements in the analysis of protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions. The technological feasibility of protein arrays depends on the different factors that enable the arrayed proteins to recognize molecular partners and on the specificity of the interactions involved. Proteome-scale studies of molecular interactions require high-throughput approaches for both the production and purification of functionally active proteins. Various solutions have been proposed to avoid non-specific protein interactions on array supports and to monitor low-abundance molecules. The data accumulated indicate that this emerging technology is perfectly suited to resolve networks of protein interactions involved in complex physiological and pathological phenomena in different organisms and to develop sensitive tools for biomedical applications.

© 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Microarray technologies; Proteomics; Protein array; Protein interactions; High-throughput screening

Contents

1.	Introduction			
2.	High-	throughput protein production	78	
	2.1.	DNA cloning	78	
	2.2.	Affinity purification and solubility of proteins	80	
	2.3.	Cell-free protein synthesis	81	
	2.4.	Automation of protein production	82	
3.	Suppo	Supports for arraying proteins		
	3.1.	Oriented immobilization	82	
	3.2.	Hydrogel	83	
	3.3.	Nitrocellulose membrane	83	
	3.4.	Other supports and micro-formats	83	
4.	Detec	tion of signal	84	
	4.1.	Protein labeling by cell-free synthesis	84	
	4.2.	Enhancing signals from microspots	84	

* Tel.: +33 2 51 125620; fax: +33 2 51 125637.

E-mail address: vehary.sakanyan@chimbio.univ-nantes.fr.

 $^{1570\}mathchar`line 1570\mathchar`line 1570\mathchar`line 10.1016\mathchar`line 10.1016$

5.	Mole	Molecular interactions					
	5.1. Protein–DNA interactions						
	5.2.	Protein-	-protein interactions	87			
		5.2.1.	Functional analysis by protein arrays	87			
		5.2.2.	Protein profiling with antibodies	89			
		5.2.3.	Protein domain arrays	90			
6. Conclusion							
Ack	Acknowledgements						
Ref	References						

1. Introduction

Basic and applied post-genomic research requires highthroughput tools to elucidate the myriad of molecular interactions involved in complex cellular processes. Computational treatment of the massive amount of genomic information enables the properties of open reading frames (ORFs) and protein interactions to be predicted [1]. However, the necessity to validate the virtual data by experimental proof, to find answers for functions of unknown proteins and to establish protein interaction maps has stimulated the development of new technologies. It is clear that only complementary approaches will guarantee success when putting the acquired knowledge into practice. During the last decade, various technologies have been adopted for proteome-scale investigations. A great effort has been made in the large-scale 3D structural analysis of prokaryotic and eukaryotic proteins. This is seen as the best way to perform the structure-based assignment of protein functions and predict protein contacts with other molecules [2]. A high-throughput two-hybrid methodology, along with mass spectroscopy, has been largely exploited for the construction of the protein interaction maps of several organisms [3,4]. The emergence of array technology has been a logical consequence of this formidable scientific challenge to understand genome and proteome behavior in a whole unicellular or multicellular organism by the analysis of miniaturized spots composed of various biological materials.

Protein arrays have emerged as a transition from genomics to proteomics to study protein interactions with different types of molecular partner (Fig. 1). The advantages of this technology are based on its capacity to characterize a huge number of ordered protein spots simultaneously, thus replacing numerous individual binding reactions by a single test, and to monitor binding parameters in parallel assays with different probes [5]. Ordered protein spots can be arranged in planar macroarray or microarray formats, reflecting the relative size and number of spots per square centimeter to be studied; macroarrays are suited to the study of dozens of proteins whereas microarrays are suitable for the large-scale analysis of proteomes [6,7]. The success achieved in the analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae proteome emphasizes the realistic possibilities of this technology to manipulate a bulk quantity of proteins [8].

The association of proteins with each other and with DNA leads to the formation of enzymatic and regulatory complexes that govern fundamental cellular processes such as transcription and translation, metabolic and signal transduction pathways, differentiation and development. Therefore, the elucidation of protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions is a clue both for understanding the nature of physiological and pathological processes in a whole organism and for creating new tools for basic and applied research. In this review, I present the achievements in the high-throughput production of functional recombinant proteins, the fabrication of protein arrays and the detection of protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions. I focus on the approaches that enable biologically active proteins to be obtained and the factors limiting the detection of specific molecular interactions to be overridden. These are the two crucial conditions for the development of protein array-based applications.

2. High-throughput protein production

Considering that the number of sequenced prokaryotic and eukaryotic genomes is continually increasing, one would expect that high-throughput protein production is indispensable for proteome-scale investigations of molecular interactions. Achievement of this goal depends on both the efficiency and the cost of the protein-producing methods. Neither antibody production nor peptide synthesis is discussed in this review (for recent reviews see [9,10]). Below, I present the approaches providing high-throughput protein synthesis in cellular and cell-free systems.

2.1. DNA cloning

High-throughput protein production in cells requires rapid DNA cloning and gene expression in prokaryotic and eukaryotic hosts. Gene cloning from sequenced prokaryotic genomes is rather simple to perform whereas cloning eukaryotic genes usually needs the creation of cDNA molecules. Comprehensive cDNA collections of eukaryotic genomes are currently available at several centers worldwide (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ncigap/, http://kazysa.or.jp/huge/). The cloned genes from cDNA collections can be expressed in certain host organisms or the coding sequences can be transferred into more suitable hostcloning systems by ligase-dependent and ligase-independent cloning (LIC) methods.

Traditional ligase-dependent DNA cloning involves the covalent connection of restriction endonuclease-generated



Fig. 1. Diversity of multiplexed and high-throughput protein arrays. The arrays can also be fabricated with monoclonal antibodies and chemically synthesized peptides. The figure shows an example of planar protein arrays and the fluorescent detection. The technology is applicable to study interactions with various types of molecules.

or PCR-amplified fragments to specialized expression vectors with polynucleotide ligase, followed by the selection of recombinant clones in appropriate hosts. The LIC methods eliminate the use of restriction endonuclease digestion and ligation of PCR products, thereby increasing the probability of successfully joining DNA molecules, simplifying gene insertion into a suitable vector and accelerating the DNA cloning steps in cells.

One of the first LIC methods demonstrated that 12nucleotide overlaps in the target and vector PCR-amplified DNAs, generated by 3' > 5' exonuclease activity of T4 DNA polymerase, provide sufficiently strong annealing of complementary single strands [11]. Consequently, recombinant molecules can be selected in transformed *Escherichia coli* cells in which the cellular ligase catalyzes the phospho-diester links between the insert and vector DNAs. The method was later modified and several specialized vectors have since been constructed, which provide more efficient DNA cloning [12–14]. It is worth mentioning that, with the introduction of a two-step PCR-based overlap extension method without ligation, gene expression from a desired transcription–translation signal became a simple and a versatile procedure [15,16].

DNA topoisomerase from *Vaccinia* virus was found to be able to join DNA molecules in vitro in 5 min, a great advantage over the DNA-ligase catalyzed reaction [17]. Several well-known Topo vectors have been constructed for cloning blunt-end and cohesive-end generated DNA fragments using the topoisomerase activity (http://www.invitrogen.com).

Other LIC methods exploit in vitro or in vivo site-specific exchange between target and vector DNAs via recombination. The Cre-*lox* site-specific recombination system catalyzes in vitro fusion of the plasmid DNA carrying the target gene to another vector containing convenient expression and regulatory elements [18]. The popular Gateway system uses phage λ Int-Xis-IHF site-specific-mediated recombination, allowing the exchange of DNA regions flanked by recombination sites between two parental molecules [19].

However, the simplest means to generate exchange between DNAs is in vivo recombination between homologous sequences that can be detected by co-transformation of two linear DNA molecules and selection of recombinant clones in E. coli cells [20,21]. In this way, recombinant DNAs have also been selected in the S. cerevisiae host that possess a higher recombination frequency between homologous segments of linearized DNAs [22,23]. Recently, this method appears to have received a new impetus with regard to providing high-throughput DNA cloning to various sequenced genomes, as demonstrated by the successful cloning of almost 93% of ORFs from a pathogenic bacterium, Campylobacter jejuni [24]. Indeed, 20 bp tags created by PCR at the extremities of different linear DNA fragments are sufficient to assure efficient recombination with the homologous extremities of the vector DNA digested by two restriction endonucleases (digestion by two different enzymes eliminates the selfcircularization of the vector DNA). After co-transformation of E. coli, almost 70% of antibiotic-resistant clones acquired the expected recombinant DNAs with cloned genes varying in size between 93 and 4020 bp. Western-blot analysis of total protein samples from recombinant clones confirmed that the majority of genes are expressed as fusion proteins, suggesting their usefulness for comprehensive functional studies [24].

2.2. Affinity purification and solubility of proteins

The purification of large sets of proteins should assure the maintenance of their three-dimensional conformation as this is a crucial condition to display both biological activity and recognition of molecular partners. The conversion of aggregated proteins into properly folded and biologically active molecules [25] appears not to be a convenient highthroughput approach because of the cost and uncertainty of the expected results. State-of-the-art protein production is based on affinity purification, which can be performed in a single step thereby accelerating the rate-limiting steps of protein purification by classical procedures. Moreover, affinity purification conditions can be standardized to provide the accurate purification of many representatives of different families of proteins.

Affinity binding to selected compounds can be achieved by relevant tags created at the N- or C-terminus of target proteins. The most popular affinity purification tags, His (usually six histidine residues) and glutathione-*S*-transferase (GST), bind to Ni-NTA agarose [26] and glutathione agarose [27], respectively. The GST-tag can improve the solubility of fused proteins, whereas some other tags can provoke the conversion of soluble proteins into insoluble molecules [28,29]. Certain proteins fused to the purification tags can be improperly folded, making the respective amino acid residues inaccessible for affinity binding [30,31].

Waldo and co-workers [32,33] suggested assessing soluble proteins with unknown functional assignments through the fusion of the corresponding ORFs to green fluorescent protein, GFP. Such a GFP-tag can be used as an indicator of protein folding, and fused proteins with high and low solubility can be identified by the fluorescence intensity of recombinant clones. This method has been used to characterize putative proteins encoded by random mouse cDNA fragments cloned in *E. coli* [34].

In spite of the absence of a universal affinity purification method and the difficulty of obtaining soluble proteins, remarkable results have been obtained in the simultaneous production of many proteins for structural and functional investigations. In fact, the requirement of milligram quantities of proteins for structural studies has stimulated the creation of high-throughput pipelines with the goal of resolving three-dimensional structures of representatives of all protein families with all possible folds. Non-membrane proteins of a thermophilic archaeon, Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum, have been expressed in E. coli cells and 20% of 424 His-tagged purified samples were suitable candidates for NMR spectroscopic and X-ray crystallographic studies [35]. Almost 73% of ORFs have been cloned from a hyperthermophilic bacterium Thermotoga maritima (contains 1877 putative genes) and expressed in fusion to the affinity purification MGSDKHis6-tag at the N-terminus of proteins in E. coli cells [36]. The presence of six initial amino acids provided greater and more homogeneous expression of recombinant proteins without any significant influence on proper protein folding. Forty percent of the proteins tested were found to be soluble and 432 proteins were successfully crystallized, including some large proteins of 100 kDa (10⁵ relative molecular mass).

Braun et al. [37] have performed a systematic study of the efficiency of high-throughput purification of human fusion proteins from E. coli under denaturing and non-denaturing conditions. Thirty-two full-length genes, coding proteins with a molecular weight range of 16-150 kDa, have been individually expressed in fusion to four affinity purification tags. Comparative analysis showed that a small His-tag and a 4 kDa calmodulin-binding peptide (CBP-tag) were useful to purify only a few proteins under non-denaturing conditions whereas larger tags, a 42 kDa maltose-binding protein (MBP) and a 26 kDa GST, provided purification of more proteins, with a purity in the range of 30-70%. Many impurities resulted from the degradation of recombinant proteins; GSTtagged proteins were found to be most prone to degradation. The purified GST- and MBP-tagged proteins were functional, as determined by kinase activation or kinase inhibition tests with corresponding candidates. Furthermore, 204 full-length proteins out of 336 random cDNAs have been expressed in fusion to a His-tag and purified under denaturing conditions. Remarkably, 192 GST-tagged proteins from this list of His fusion samples have also been successfully purified under non-denaturing conditions.

The expression of human proteins in fusion to seven different N-terminal tags in *E. coli* has been studied by Hammarström et al. [29]. Regarding the expression and the solubility of 26 tested small proteins (up to 19.5 kDa), a 13 kDa thioredoxin, a 17 kDa double Z-domain from *Staphylococcus aureus* protein A, a 7.5 kDa Gb1 domain of *Streptococcus* protein G and MBP were found to be the best tags. Only 5.4% of the 86 selected His-fusion proteins, ranging from 10 to 110 kDa, were found soluble as compared to 24% of fusions to the MBP-tag [38]. Studying another 40 proteins from yeast, mammals, plants and insects confirms that proteins ranging from 9 to 100 kDa and purified in fusion to GST, and especially to MBP or NusA tags, display greater solubility [14].

These data emphasize that E. coli is still the best-exploited host system for the expression of recombinant proteins. However, its usefulness is limited to eukaryotic proteins, which do not require post-translational modifications for their biological activity. Besides, many multi-domain eukaryotic proteins appear not to fold correctly in the bacterial cytoplasmic environment because of differences in the coupling of translation and folding in eukaryotic and bacterial cells [39,40]. These barriers can be overcome by using eukaryotic cell hosts, as shown by the expression of 5800 ORFs of S. cerevisiae in a homologous host [41]. The proteins were fused to the tandem of GST- and His-tags, the first providing better solubility for target proteins and the second providing affinity binding to the Ni-coated glass surface for the preparation of protein arrays. In addition, both tags are suitable for affinity purification of proteins and detection by corresponding anti-tag antibodies. Other eukaryotic systems based on mammalian cells [42] and baculovirus ([43], http://www.protometric.com) are in development with the aim of using them for high-throughput production of human proteins.

A comparison of purified human proteins expressed as fusions to a tandem of N-terminal His- and GST-tags in E. coli showed that both tags provide a similar purity but the protein yield is higher in some cases on Ni-NTA agarose [44]. Double tags fused to both extremities of target proteins improve purification by the elimination of non-specific proteins and by decreasing the yield of truncated derivatives. Thus, more than 90% purity was reached for eukaryotic proteins fused simultaneously to the N-terminal GST- or MBP-tag and the C-terminal His-tag when two affinity columns were used [14]. Similarly, human proteins fused to the N-terminal Histag and the C-terminal Strep-tag (the peptide possesses the affinity for streptavidin) and expressed in S. cerevisiae [45] or Pichia pastoris [46], or fused to the N-terminal GST-tag and the C-terminal Strep-tag and expressed in E. coli [47], have been purified with greater efficiency using the advantages of the two tags consecutively.

The data accumulated show that the small His-tag is suitable for the purification of recombinant bacterial and archaeal proteins, rather than for eukaryotic proteins under nondenaturing conditions. In this context, the GST and MBP tags are better suited to purify human proteins. However, the insertion of large tags increases the molecular masses of fused proteins and thereby decreases the efficiency of affinity purification [35,37,48]. Large tags, in particular MBP, can also affect the binding properties of target proteins so that a supplementary treatment of the proteins is needed to eliminate the tags and obtain biologically active molecules. Such a strategy appears to be unsuitable for massive protein purification. On the contrary, the development of small, efficient affinity peptide tags or alternative purification approaches might help to solve the problem and provide soluble eukaryotic proteins.

2.3. Cell-free protein synthesis

Proteins can also be synthesized in a cell-free system (a coupled in vitro transcription and translation system), first developed by De Vries and Zubay [49] with E. coli extracts known as S30 extracts. Intracellular metabolism, and especially membrane-related functions (respiration and transfer) of cells, are sensitive to the elevated concentrations of unusual heterologous proteins, which can result in the arrest of cellular growth. On the contrary, being devoid of the cytoplasmic membrane, the cell-free system is open and tolerant to overexpressed "toxic" proteins. Cell-free protein synthesis can be performed on both circular and linear DNA templates; it does not involve DNA cloning steps in cells and is therefore less time-consuming. Moreover, linear DNA templates are suitable to assess rapidly the effect of terminal tags on the protein function (Fernholz, personal communication). The short duration of synthesis and the reaction conditions are unfavorable for protein aggregation in cell-free systems. Consequently, a relatively high proportion of soluble recombinant proteins can be produced. The yield of cell-free synthesized proteins was significantly increased by using strong transcription and translation signals for gene expression and by supplying more suitable ATP-generating sources and compounds essential for biosynthesis [50–53].

We have used an *E. coli*-based cell-free batch system for the synthesis of 14 ORFs coding for putative regulatory proteins of the XylR (six proteins), LacI (five proteins) and GntR (three proteins) families using PCR-amplified DNA templates from a hyperthermophilic bacterium *T. maritima* [54]. The heat treatment of the reaction products and further purification of N-terminal His-tagged proteins in microplate wells coated with Ni-NTA or containing corresponding magnetic beads allowed high-purity soluble proteins to be obtained with molecular masses from 14 to 43 kDa. The quantity of proteins synthesized under batch conditions was sufficient to test the binding to DNA by gel-mobility shift and macroarray methods.

Twenty-four proteins from several mesophilic microorganisms have also been fused to the His-tag and expressed in an *E. coli* cell-free system using circular plasmid DNA templates [55]. No difference was observed in the synthesis of 21 out of 24 proteins of 11.7–44.6 kDa at 25 and 30 °C. Colorimetric detection of soluble non-purified proteins by dotblot using anti-His monoclonal antibody indicated that the C-terminal His-tag appears to decrease the protein solubility as compared to the N-terminal tag. However, more extensive experiments showed that the C-terminal His-tag is better for protein solubility (Fernholz, personal communication).

Eukaryotic cell-free protein synthesis systems have also been developed using extracts of reticulocytes and wheat germs [56,57]. The elimination of endogenous translation inhibitors and traces of ribonucleases, deoxyribonucleases and proteases in wheat embryos [58] and the optimization of the 5'- and 3'-untranslated regions, along with the stabilization of mRNA templates [59,60], allowed an improved in vitro process to be proposed, providing the synthesis of eukaryotic proteins from PCR-amplified DNAs. In fact, between 0.1 and 2.3 mg/ml of 50 Arabidopsis thaliana proteins ranging from 11.3 to 82.5 kDa were synthesized in 36 h by this cell-free system [59]. The presence of an N-terminal GST-tag increased the solubility of certain proteins considered as insoluble without this tag. Four of the five tested kinase proteins possessed autophosphorylation activity, suggesting that their kinase domains were folded into active forms.

In parallel with batch synthesis, more productive continuous flow cell-free translation systems have been developed in which the compounds necessary for synthesis are supplied to the reaction chamber through a semi-permeable membrane [61–64].

2.4. Automation of protein production

LIC methods, cellular and cell-free protein synthesis and affinity tag purification of proteins are amenable to automation, which should improve the efficiency and reduce the total cost of the high-throughput analysis of proteins. Indeed, 96-well formats have been successfully employed to clone many target genes simultaneously, to produce recombinant plasmids, to purify proteins by affinity chromatography and to study protein solubility and enzymatic activity [2,34,36,44,47,55,65,66].

An active human single-chain anti-progesterone V_H/K fragment fused via a flexible linker to the C-terminal Histag has been synthesized in 96-microplate wells, using rabbit reticulocyte lysates, and immobilized from extracts to a Ni-NTA coated surface in the same wells [67]. Furthermore, a highly productive continuous flow cell-free system, known as rapid translation system (RTS), supported by ProteoExpert software to optimize protein expression has been commercialized. It provides the simultaneous synthesis of prokaryotic and eukaryotic proteins in 48 small independent semi-permeable bioreactors of 50 µl volume (http://www.biochen.roche.com).

Taking into consideration the advantages of cell-free protein synthesis, it is expected to become a powerful means for high-throughput production of biologically active proteins that can be perfectly integrated into the fabrication of protein arrays.

3. Supports for arraying proteins

Miniaturized protein arrays are fabricated on supports, which must satisfy strict requirements. These include providing good quality spots, a low background, simplicity of manipulation and compatibility with detection systems. In binding reactions on microspot-formats, the capture proteins are covalently or non-covalently immobilized on a planar surface whereas the molecular partner(s) is in a solution (see Fig. 1). Alternative supports and formats have been developed, which ensure the arrayed proteins are closer to their native state.

3.1. Oriented immobilization

The glass slide is an inert and mechanically stable support, which requires a chemical coating to make it functional. The chemistry of immobilizing target proteins on a glass slide is based on either the non-covalent binding of proteins or covalent bonding between amino acids or carbohydrates attached to the proteins and the functional groups of chemical agents previously fixed on the slide. A comprehensive list of glass slide surfaces chemically modified for the immobilization of proteins has been recently presented elsewhere [68].

The direct and random immobilization of proteins on a solid phase limits their number, causes their denaturation and, consequently, reduces the specificity of the molecular interactions [69]. Polyethylene glycol (PEG) can form a monolayer that reduces non-specific attachment of proteins on a solid phase [70]. Therefore, poly-L-lysine- or epoxy-grafted PEG slides prevent direct contact between the proteins in solution and the glass surface thus decreasing the background [71,72].

A more effective strategy is the oriented immobilization of target proteins, which enables a considerably greater quantity, and thus more functional capture proteins, to be deposited. As a result, a proportionally larger number of molecular partners in the liquid samples analyzed can be captured as first demonstrated by immobilization of antibodies through their carbohydrate groups on a solid phase [73,74]. Cross-linkers can also be used to improve both the immobilization of antibodies on the surface of the glass slide and their orientation towards the antigens in solution. The insertion, between the antibodies and the support, of a $(CH_2)_n$ radical (single or extended by other radicals) with ends that bind to the amine or thiol groups of the antibodies, can facilitate the access of antigens to captures [75]. This approach gives the best performance on glass slides derivatized with 2.5% epoxysilane. When the immobilization of differentially biotinylated immunoglobulins IgG or Fab fragments on a layer of streptavidin were compared, the ability of oriented antibodies to capture analytes was found to be 5-10 times higher than that of non-oriented molecules [76]. Biotinylated antibodies and peptides were also immobilized on an oriented streptavidin monolayer self-assembled onto a gold film [77].

Biotinylation of other proteins is less specific when compared to antibodies. However, this drawback was overcome by using an in vivo intein-mediated expression system to generate a C-terminal intein-tag with a chitin-binding domain [78,79]. The fused protein was purified on a chitin column by affinity. Then the column was flushed with biotinylated cysteine and the C-terminally biotinylated protein, after spontaneous liberation from the intein-tag, could be site-specifically attached to avidin-functionalized glass slides. A more general principle is the affinity immobilization of proteins containing the His-tag on a glass surface coated by nickel [8] or the GSTtag on glutathione-derivatized glass slides [80]. This simple approach appears to be particularly suitable for the immobilization of proteins from organisms whose genomes have been sequenced because affinity tags can easily be introduced by PCR upstream or downstream of coding regions.

3.2. Hydrogel

Another technique that can increase the efficiency of protein immobilization consists of covering the glass slide with a layer of a polymer, such as polyacrylamide, agarose or gelatin, which provides a porous structure. A film of gel, which is 70–95% water, ensures that the three-dimensional structure of the immobilized proteins is maintained and their accessibility is favored without them having to be oriented [81]. Moreover, the low threshold of fluorescence of this type of support leads to a greater sensitivity of detection. The proteins can be placed in solution with polyacrylamide and co-polymerized by UV irradiation [82] or spotted directly onto a layer of commercial hydrogel (http://www.perkin.elmer.com). The immobilized enzymes retain almost 70% of their activity.

The supramolecular hydrogels that possess amphiphilic characteristics have been recently developed for semi-wet protein microarrays [83]. They contain aqueous pockets created in the gel matrix where enzymatic reactions can occur and hydrophobic spaces to trap the fluorescent products released during the reactions. These supports thus appear to be promising for the direct monitoring of enzymes and the screening of their substrates and inhibitors.

3.3. Nitrocellulose membrane

The nitrocellulose membrane is suitable for the immobilization of different proteins and is easy to manipulate. It has therefore been successfully applied to the fabrication of protein arrays and to studies of various molecular interactions [6,84]. Although hydrophobic interactions are generally considered as responsible for the immobilization of proteins, the actual forces involved in their binding are not yet known. Due to its microporous surface, nitrocellulose is able to retain a greater number of capture proteins than a planar surface of aldehyde-derivatized glass slides [85]. Moreover, its porosity contains, under appropriate conditions, aqueous microspaces that allow proteins to maintain their active configuration. As the half-life of the immobilized proteins is longer, this type of array can be used for several months. In addition, the new nitrocellulose membranes, of the FAST-slides type, have a higher signal-to-noise ratio which markedly improves detection by fluorescence ([86], http://www.schleicher.schuell.com).

Proteins are usually purified before being deposited. However, porous supports, like nitrocellulose membranes or hydrogel, are equally compatible with crude cell extracts containing non-purified overexpressed proteins [82,87].

3.4. Other supports and micro-formats

A chemically modified surface of conventional microplate wells has been used to fabricate protein microarrays. Several geometric configurations of up to 48 spots per well have been proposed. Such a double microplate-microspot approach appears to have an advantage in terms of performing high-throughput analysis in individual chambers [88,89]. Alternatively, microfluidic chips have been developed for multiple enzymatic and binding reactions [90,91]. The surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensing technique enables the equilibrium binding constants of molecular interactions to be measured in real time without the need for labeled probes [92]. This measurement is now possible for 400 individual spots simultaneously, which increases the value of SPR for the high-throughput screening of molecules (http://www.applied.biosystemes.com).

In order to avoid dehydration and denaturation of proteins, binding reactions can be carried out between nonimmobilized free capture proteins and analytes in small individual chambers. Such microwells have been successfully used to detect the kinase activity of many putative yeast proteins [41]. A better performance of enzymatic reactions can be achieved in small nanowells developed in recent years [93,94]. Moreover, an active β -galactosidase has been synthesized in a bacterial cell-free system in a volume of 0.1 µl, sufficient for many enzymatic measurements [95]. Therefore, nanowell-based arrays will be useful to identify catalytic functions promoted by non-immobilized proteins synthesized in vitro in the same wells.

The majority of membrane proteins, which possess particular folds, require a bi-lipid environment to display a biological function. Consequently, the array method has been successfully employed to detect interactions of recombinant GABA receptors with a small carbohydrate by immobilization of a neuronal membrane fraction on nitrocellulose [96]. Remarkably, artificial bi-lipid layers have been developed on microplates coated by an amine-presenting surface that allows both the three-dimensional structure and the binding capacity of the arrayed G-protein-coupled receptor proteins to be conserved [97].

This diversity of supports and formats widens the potential use of array-based methodology to study interactions of different families of proteins. The high quality of planar supports, which are the most suitable for simultaneously screening molecules, contributes significantly to the binding specificity to both small ligands and large macromolecules under appropriate conditions. Further development of supports with improved characteristics will provide biological activity of unstable proteins and those requiring particular compartments on a minute area.

4. Detection of signal

Several detection methods have been developed to monitor signals with protein arrays using labeled and non-labeled molecular probes. Three of them, being the most sensitive, are widely exploited to study interactions of proteins arrayed on planar surfaces. Radioactive detection requires fewer binding/washing steps but the spot resolution is relatively low $(>300 \,\mu\text{m})$ and the technique is demanding in terms of staff protection. Chemiluminescence detection is limited in performance because of signal instability. Stable fluorescent signals of different wavelengths, which depend on the absorption and emission of photons by a given fluorophore and its ability to undergo numerous excitation-emission cycles, are better suited for detection on the minute area of spots. Moreover, they can be used to monitor different functions simultaneously in two-color binding experiments.

4.1. Protein labeling by cell-free synthesis

In fluorescence detection, protein labeling is carried out by bioconjugation, i.e. by covalent coupling of mono- or bifunctional groups of fluorescent dyes to primary amines of the N-terminus or other active groups in some amino acids (usually an *\varepsilon*-NH₂ group of lysine). Amine-reactive dyes are used to label proteins, oligonucleotides and other biomolecules, whereas thiol-reactive dyes are used to label selectively cysteine residues in proteins. A drawback of these molecular probes is that the dyes conjugated randomly to amino acids can induce topological changes in the protein structure that might affect the recognition of molecular partners. A common way to avoid this inconvenience is to apply the "sandwich principle" for the detection of bound molecules via a supplementary binding step of the analyte to a primary antibody that is recognized by a labeled secondary antibody. However, cell-free protein synthesis opens up a new possibility of introducing a single fluorescent molecule precisely into the N- or C-terminal position of a given protein.

One of these methods uses low concentrations of puromycin at which the antibiotic competes with aminoacyltRNA for incorporation into the C-terminal of de novo synthesized protein [98,99]. Up to 90% of the synthesized protein can be labeled with puromycin bearing a fluorophore [100] without significant perturbation of DNA binding and other biological functions [101].

Another method is based on the observation that an initiator tRNA with an altered anti-codon can substitute methionine by another amino acid at the beginning of a protein [102]. Indeed, the N-terminus of model proteins has been labeled with an efficiency of up to 67% by using an amber (CUA) initiator tRNA, chemically aminoacylated with a fluorophore-amino acid conjugate, and the DNA template containing the amber UAG codon instead of the AUG initiation codon in the *E. coli* cell-free system [103,104].

Thus, there is a great opportunity for array technology to acquire uniformly labeled and correctly folded proteins for probing protein–protein interactions.

4.2. Enhancing signals from microspots

Protein microspots on a planar support provide higher sensitivity for the detection of interactions with molecular partners as compared to other binding-format assays. The theoretical basis of miniaturized ligand binding assays has been developed by Ekins and coworkers [105–107]. Assuming that no dissociation and rebinding takes place under standardized conditions, the detected total signal on microspots reflects the number of molecules bound by capture proteins. However, if the surface density is identical in a minute area, then the spot of a smaller diameter provides a stronger signal than that of a larger diameter.

In practice, the signal detection from spots is limited by the number of capture proteins: below a critical threshold, current methods fail to detect bound molecules. Since the sensitivity of the detection depends on the surface density of functional capture molecules, the orientated immobilization of proteins on derivized glass surfaces increases the total protein surface exposed to the interactions and thereby enables the detection of a lower number of capture proteins [8,75,76]. A greater surface contact of capture proteins can also be achieved by their immobilization on 3D space-supports, such as hydrogel or nitrocellulose (see Section 3).

Alternatively, the critical threshold of the signal to be detected can be lowered by enhancing the signal-to-noise ratio on a given support. Indeed, the sensitivity of fluorescence detection is diminished by background signals, which can be caused by endogenous constituents of the supports or the samples (usually referred to as autofluorescence). Visible fluorophores, which absorb and emit within \approx 500–650 nm, are not well suited to detect proteins on a nitrocellulose membrane because of the high background fluorescence of the support in the visible range. In contrast, near-infrared fluorescent dyes (IRDyes), with wavelengths higher than 670 nm, have a great advantage over visible fluorophores in that longer wavelengths provide very low background (high signal-tonoise ratio) and a wide dynamic range to detect proteins on membrane supports [108]. IRDye-labeled antibodies allow membrane-immobilized proteins to be detected with higher sensitivity than those labeled by visible fluorophores ([109], http://www.licor.com). Moreover, attomolar quantities of target proteins have been detected in serially diluted samples arrayed on a nitrocellulose membrane using IRDye-labeled DNA and protein probes [87].

Another radical way to increase the sensitivity of detection on arrayed microspots is by signal amplification. The tyramide amplification method, based on a sandwich principle, uses the horseradish peroxidase-mediated activation of multiple copies of fluorescent- or chemiluminescent-labeled tyramide derivatives to generate high-density labeled proteins (http://www.probes.com). The method was successfully applied to screening pathway targets in tumor tissues by reversephase protein arrays [110,111]. This amplification approach also enabled the detection of low-abundance IgEs against some allergens used as immobilized antigen arrays [112].

PCR technology has also been used to detect antibodies bound to antigens via the attachment of a specific DNA sequence as a target for signal amplification [113-116]. A DNA molecule can be connected to a given antibody by streptavidin-biotin or covalent linkage. Furthermore, a method has been developed known as rolling circle amplification (RCA) [117] that can detect low-abundance antigens on microspot formats of arrayed antibodies [118,119]. In this method, a reporter antibody conjugated to the 5' end of an oligonucleotide is first captured by an antigen immobilized on a support. Then this oligonucleotide in the bound antibody-antigen complex is annealed to a complementary sequence located in a small circular single strand of DNA (\approx 80-mer) and the added DNA polymerase produces a long linear concatamer molecule by repeated rolling of the circular DNA template. Finally, the resulting amplified DNA, containing hundreds of copies of the circular DNA and attached to the bound antibody-antigen complex, is detected by hybridization with a labeled complementary oligonucleotide probe or by direct incorporation of fluorescently-labeled or hapten-labeled nucleotides. This elegant method provides linear kinetics of DNA amplification by incorporation of ≈ 200 nucleotides/s with a 3 log increase in the detection sensitivity, up to zeptomolar quantities of some target proteins. Thus, 0.1 pg/ml of the prostate-specific antigen was detected by this method as compared to 100 pg/ml by conventional ELISA. RCA has been used for multiplexed detection of low-abundance proteins in biological fluids on microarray formats, such as cytokines secreted during maturation of Langerhans cells [120] and allergen-specific IgEs in the sera of patients [121,122].

Another possibility for signal enhancement is based on the proximity-dependent DNA ligation of two affinity DNA aptamer probes which, being bound to target proteins and hybridized to a connector oligonucleotide, serve as templates for signal amplification by PCR [123,124]. Without additional washing and separation steps, up to 40 zeptomole amounts of the cytokine platelet-derived growth factor have been detected by this extremely sensitive method. It may prove suitable for enhancing the sensitivity and specificity of the detection of multiple protein partners using array technology.

Nanomechanical detection of a bent cantilever with the immobilized protein bound to the analyte is also promising for the development of label-free monitoring of molecular interactions on protein arrays by the application of atomic force microscopy [125–127].

5. Molecular interactions

The combination of computational and molecular biology approaches has already proven its power to detect functional motifs in protein and DNA sequences and to identify complex regulatory networks in cells. A high-throughput yeast two-hybrid method based on a "bait-prey"-promoted activation of a reporter gene in cells [128] has been largely used for the construction of interaction maps of several organisms [23,129–133]. Furthermore, mapping of protein complexes by mass spectroscopy has been reported [134,135]. The emergence of a multiplexed high-throughput array technology raises studying protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions to a new qualitative level by providing both complementary information and the unique possibility of analyzing genomes and proteomes of unicellular and multicellular organisms.

5.1. Protein–DNA interactions

Many DNA-binding proteins are involved in the regulation of genome expression and maintenance. The majority of DNA-binding regulatory proteins are two-domain molecules, in which one domain usually determines DNA recognition and binding, while the other is involved in the assembly of monomers into oligomeric molecules and the recruitment of cofactors and other proteins to regulate RNA synthesis [136]. The target sites for each family of proteins represent similar nucleotide sequences that share a core motif and transcriptional regulation is specified by various factors that affect the efficiency of base pair-amino acid contacts in cells.

Sensitive assays have been developed to identify protein–DNA interactions using fluorescence spectroscopy, nuclear magnetic resonance, mass spectroscopy, and atomic force microscopy during recent years [137–144]. Protein binding sites can be predicted in genomes by bioinformatics, although this approach alone does not provide valuable functional information [145,146]. A convenient way to assess simultaneously a dozen proteins binding to DNA targets is still the gel electrophoresis mobility shift assay (EMSA). In this context, the array technology has significant time and cost advantages over other DNA-binding methods, which can take months to characterize and to assess a large number of natural and mutant targets of interest.

Several DNA array-based approaches have been developed to monitor DNA-protein interactions. The first highthroughput analysis was performed by enzymatic conversion of single-stranded oligonucleotides, which contain a longer 16-mer sequence for annealing, into double-stranded oligonucleotides that were then probed to bind transcriptional factors [147]. Different parameters of the method have been improved by immobilizing shorter 8-mer oligonucleotides on polyacrylamide gel pads, and consecutive annealing with a specified mixture of 8-mer oligonucleotides [148] or by forming unimolecular hairpin structures [149]. The approach has also been used to analyze the specificity of zinc finger interactions to wild-type and mutant nucleotide sequences using phage-displayed peptides [150,151] and to characterize the single nucleotide polymorphism effect in human transcriptional factors NF-kB and OCT-1 [152].

A combined method of DNA microarray and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP array) has been developed to assess the binding of gene-specific transcription activators in response to changes in carbon source and mating pheromone in the yeast genome [153,154] and to detect binding loci for cell-cycle regulators, the p65 subunit of NF-KB transcriptional factor and the cyclic AMP-responsive element-binding protein on human chromosomes [155-157]. A similar approach uses the separation of bound protein/DNA complexes by EMSA instead of immunoprecipitation [158]. Another method, DNA adenine methylase identification (DamID array), detects DNA-binding sites by taking into consideration that eukaryotic DNA can be subjected to methylation in vivo only at chromosomal sites bound to a given transcription factor fused to the bacterial Dam enzyme [159,160].

The DNA microarray method has recently been combined with SPR microscopy to monitor the binding constants of the yeast transcription factor Gal4 with respect to many target DNAs prepared by spotting biotinylated dsDNA on a streptavidin-coated gold surface [161]. The kinetics of the binding of the proteins to operator sequences was monitored simultaneously from 120 spots with a sensitivity of 0.5 pg of bound protein at a time resolution of 1 s.

While DNA arrays allow DNA binding sites in genomes to be identified and their response to growth conditions to be assessed, protein arrays can help to identify proteins that bind to DNA targets of interest.

In the "proof-of-concept" study, Ge developed a universal protein array (UPA) system for the quantitative detection of protein interactions with different molecules [6]. The proteins were overexpressed in bacteria or in baculovirus and purified to homogeneity. A macroarray representing 48 individual patterns was prepared on a nitrocellulose membrane with dot blot apparatus. The majority of the chosen proteins were general or specific transcriptional factors potentially enabling binding to DNA, RNA, other proteins and/or small ligands. Proteins were probed to a ³²P-labeled 64 bp doublestranded or single-stranded oligonucleotide containing the major late promoter region of the adenovirus. A tight binding was detected between the phosphorylated transcriptional activator PC4 and dsDNA, whereas the substitution of a single amino acid that is crucial for the DNA-binding activity of PC4 [162] completely abolished the binding ability. The feasibility of UPA was confirmed with other proteins as well [6]. This pioneering work emphasizes both the high-throughput and multiplexed character of protein array technology for the simultaneous analysis of many protein interactions using various molecular probes.

We used protein microarray in combination with IRDye fluorescence detection to assess protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions on a nitrocellulose membrane [87]. Arrays prepared from serial dilutions of several purified proteins and crude extracts containing the proteins over-expressed from a T7 promoter after IPTG induction were probed to the DNA promoter-operator region PargCo from



Fig. 2. SDS–PAGE analysis and fluorescence detection of protein–DNA interactions with arrayed *B. stearothermophilus* ArgR repressor (A) and *E. coli* RNA polymerase α subunit (B). Total proteins (crude extracts) of non-induced and 30, 60 and 120 min IPTG-induced samples were loaded on a polyacrylamide gel. The last lane contains a purified His-tagged protein. Arrays were prepared with the same crude extracts by a serial two-fold dilution and with pure proteins by a serial four-fold dilution. Total protein in spotted cell extracts is shown in pg while the amount of spotted pure proteins is shown in fmol and amol. Binding reactions were carried out with a 76 bp IRDye-800 labeled DNA carrying the *B. stearothermophilus* PargCo promoter-operator region (reproduced from [87] with permission).

Bacillus stearothermophilus carrying the expected binding sites. Binding signals were detected for up to 1.6 fmol and 12.9 amol of purified α subunit of RNA polymerase and ArgR repressor, respectively (Fig. 2). Moreover, a linear increase in a fluorescent signal was observed in crude extracts as a function of the duration of IPTG-induction, showing that the method works even with non-purified proteins. No signal was detected with shorter DNA probes that had lost the corresponding binding sites. Protein–DNA and protein–protein interactions with Kd of the order of 10^{-8} to 10^{-7} M could be detected with immobilized purified proteins and with crude extracts. This emphasizes the extreme sensitivity and the superiority of the IRDye detection of molecular interactions on membrane supports.

Next, this highly sensitive method was applied to a comprehensive analysis of the ArgR-mediated regulatory system in distant mesophilic and thermophilic bacteria [163,164]. In ArgR proteins, a winged helix-turn-helix motif (wHTH) located in the N-terminal DNA-binding domain [165,166] recognizes two adjacent 18 bp imperfect inverted repeats (Arg boxes) in operators [167,168], whereas distinct amino acids located in the C-terminal domain are responsible for the binding of L-arginine co-repressor and protein oligomerization [169]. Domain- and linker-replaced chimeric proteins were constructed from *E. coli* and *Bacillus stearothermophilus* repressors and eight proteins were compared in parallel assays

(64 spots of two-fold diluted samples on each membrane) to bind operator DNAs in the presence and the absence of arginine [163]. The detected signal intensity correlated with the DNA-binding affinity as confirmed by EMSA and SPR. Moreover, the ability to visualize and assess simultaneously fluorescent signals from all spots allowed us to reveal that the affinity for the operator site depends on the source of the DNA-binding and oligomerization domains in chimeras. Further detailed analysis of arrayed wild-type and mutant proteins from E. coli, B. stearothermophilus and T. neapolitana showed that bacterial ArgRs can differentially bind to operator targets composed of a single and double Arg-boxes [164]. The data obtained with protein arrays and other methods indicated that arginine regulatory proteins of the wHTH family can be of different kinds. At one extreme, there is a global kind of regulator from T. neapolitana possessing low repression efficiency and poor target specificity (binding to a single Arg-box in the absence of arginine). At the other extreme, there is an E. coli repressor exhibiting strong arginine-dependence and high target specificity (binding to a double Arg-box in the presence of arginine). Other ArgR regulators, from Bacillus for example, appear to be somewhere in between.

The question arises as to whether protein array technology is suitable to compare simultaneously regulatory proteins deduced from sequenced genomes and to identify potential DNA-binding sites in multiplexed assays. As a first step in that direction, we prepared a macroarray with immobilized cell-free synthesized *T. maritima* proteins belonging to the XylR, LacI and GntR families ([54], see Section 2.3). Thermostable proteins were probed to the characterized operator sequences from the *E. coli* genome. Fluorescent signals were detected for some of XylR, LacI and GntR proteins as an indication of their functionality. Moreover, the binding ability of these putative regulators to heterologous operators was confirmed by EMSA.

This method has recently been applied to assess the human serum response factor binding to wild-type and mutant DNA sites [170]. A 16-fold higher affinity was detected for a wild-type binding site as compared to the mutant site with a sensitivity of 0.4 pg of the spotted protein. As a further effort in studying human protein–DNA interactions, we have immobilized commercially available human transcriptional factors on a nitrocellulose membrane and probed to short DNA fragments containing putative binding sites predicted by bioinformatics within large promoter regions of human *Nat1* and *Nat2* genes (Yeretssian, Sakanyan, unpublished data).

The increasing interest in recombinant transcription factors as potential therapeutic agents and in artificial peptide– nucleic acids as potential modulators of protein–DNA interactions [171–174] faces several important issues including the high-throughput screening of biomolecules. Although limited, the data obtained with protein arrays are encouraging and show the effectiveness of protein array technology in the analysis of protein–DNA interactions and in the search for transcription activators/inhibitors.

5.2. Protein-protein interactions

Understanding the complexity of the protein-protein interactions involved in various cellular processes is a major goal of modern biology. The number of possible contacts between protein surfaces is astronomical although, in biological systems adapted to particular physiological conditions during evolution, this might be limited to interactions that provide a coordinated structure-function relationship between proteins necessary for surviving organisms. Only the combined efforts of bioinformatics and high-throughput techniques will help to find solutions in this attractive field of proteomics, or at least to contribute to the resolution of the most significant biomedical problems. In this context, protein array technology opens up wide perspectives to characterize putative proteins and identify molecular partners involved in metabolic and regulatory networks in cells. The advantages of detecting directly protein-protein interactions and monitoring different parameters such as relative protein concentration, binding affinity and protein modifications impart to protein arrays a particular usefulness for new applications.

5.2.1. Functional analysis by protein arrays

The first studies to use the high-throughput array approach were directed at identifying proteins by screening clones in a random library of human fetal brain cDNA using well-characterized antibodies [175,176]. However, protein interactions determine the transitory stability of associated functional complexes, which suggests the possibility of identifying and characterizing a suspected protein through its interacting partner with a known function.

Protein phosphorylation is a general and important mechanism of cellular regulation that involves at least two protein partners [177] therefore it was attractive to target this mechanism by protein arrays [7]. The substrate specificity of kinases can be studied on arrays with radioactive ATP or fluorescent-labeled antibodies specific to phosphorylated amino acids [7,178,179]. Snyder and co-workers [41] demonstrated the reliability of protein microarrays in determining the functions of putative kinases deduced from a sequenced genome. One hundred and nineteen GST-fused proteins of S. cerevisiae, predicted as candidates for kinase activity, were immobilized on a silicone surface in microwells and tested with 17 different protein substrates using ${}^{32}P\gamma$ -ATP under appropriate conditions. Phosphorylation signals were monitored from radioactive spots by a high-resolution phosphoimager. The substrate specificity of a given enzyme was detected by normalization of a particular activity against all substrates. This study allowed the affiliation of the identified new enzymes to kinase families to be determined and a phylogenetic tree of proteins carrying the kinase core domain to be proposed.

The high-throughput and multiplexed functional analysis of putative proteins was extended to study 5800 *S. cerevisiae* putative proteins (93.5% of total ORFs) fused to the GST-His tag at their N-termini and purified from yeast cells [8].

Protein microarrays were fabricated by immobilization of protein patterns on aldehyde-treated or nickel-coated slides and tested for protein–protein and protein–lipid interactions. Calmodulin, a calcium-binding protein involved in various calcium-regulated processes, was found to bind 39 proteins, 33 of which were considered as new potential partners. Sequence alignment of these proteins identified a common motif in 14 calmodulin-binding proteins. Obviously, this comprehensive study exceeds the bounds of a global analysis of the yeast proteome and points towards similar investigations of entire proteomes from other organisms in the future.

The highly ordered chromatin–nucleosome structure forms numerous protein complexes, which directly or indirectly determine the functional state of DNA replication, reparation and transcription. Therefore, a protein microarray was designed to analyze the chromatin-related protein interactions of immobilized histones and other relevant proteins [180]. Probing to several DNA reparation proteins responsible for distinct functions showed that Rad51B interacts with histones and not nucleosomes. On the contrary, Smarcal1, a new member of the SWI/SNF family of proteins involved in nucleosome remodeling, bound specifically to nucleosomes and not histone proteins.

Remarkably, the microarray experiment for studying protein–protein interactions can be designed completely from cell-free synthesized proteins. Thus, five synthesized eukary-otic proteins spotted and mutually probed, after being labeled in vitro by the puromycin method, formed the expected interacting pairs [80]. Several cell-free synthesized *T. maritima* transcription factors arrayed on a nitrocellulose membrane were found to bind to the bacterial RNA polymerase alpha subunit [54]. Protein binding information can also be obtained from spotted non-purified cell extracts, as performed when studying interactions between the alpha subunit of *E. coli* RNA polymerase and the cyclic AMP receptor protein [87].

The functional studies of protein–protein interactions can be enlarged and diversified by the combination of protein array and phage display methods (see Fig. 1). Particularly noteworthy is the use of the array approach to screen recombinant antibodies in phage displayed clones, robotically picked and gridded on a support, to identify antibody fragments against purified antigens or impure proteins [181].

We have recently fabricated a protein microarray format of phage-displayed peptides to evaluate the immune response in HIV-1 infected patients and to compare protein-antibody interactions of epitope-mimicking peptides [182]. 18 different peptide sequences, reminiscent of the gp41 immunodominant epitope, CSGKLIC, that forms a typical disulfide-bonded loop [183] and was used for the immunological diagnosis of HIV-1 [184], were compared in the binding affinity for IgG of several patients in parallel assays. Substitutions of variable amino acids within the motif and adjacent sequences affected the ability of HIV-specific antibodies to recognize the epitope (Fig. 3). A good correlation was observed between the binding strength distribution data obtained by ELISA and by mimetic peptide microarray. However, the more sensitive, rapid and less compound-consuming phage peptide microarray format appears to be better suited to detect sub-optimal antigen-antibody interactions in a high-throughput and multiplexed manner. This study indicated that the antiviral therapy could lead to a decrease in the level of gp41 immunodominant epitope-specific antibodies as a result of the accumulation of HIV-1 mutants with decreased affinity for primarily generated antibodies [182].



Fig. 3. Antibody-binding reactivity of phage-displayed mimetic peptides monitored by antigen array and microplate ELISA methods using IgG purified from an HIV-1 infected patient (adopted from [182] with permission). The 3D structure of the immunodominant epitope (IWGCSGKLICTTA) is from [183]. The conserved amino acid residues in selected peptides are shown in bold. An example of the ordered array with immobilized phage particles is shown.

Microarray-based detection of antigen–antibody interactions has been used for the functional assessment of proteins and peptides as potential antigens, the evaluation of the immune response and the profiling of antibodies in sera [88,121,185–192]. Therefore, antigen microarrays have a particular interest for medicine in the prognosis and diagnosis of different pathologies such as allergies and the autoimmune response, cancer, viral and bacterial infections and for selecting vaccine candidates against various diseases (reviewed in [193–195]).

5.2.2. Protein profiling with antibodies

Antibodies, being uniform, relatively stable binders with a high affinity for target molecules, are the best candidates to assess the abundance of proteins in complex biological mixtures by measuring the relative number of captured molecules [7,120,186,196–201]. Three array strategies have been proposed to compare the expression of proteins by the evaluation of their interactions with monoclonal antibodies (Fig. 4).

A two-color approach detects the fluorescence intensity of spots by comparing two samples mixed in a 1:1 ratio, in which the same proteins labeled by two fluorophores of different wavelengths are in competition to bind to the corresponding arrayed antibodies [197]. Running two parallel experiments with mutually exchanged fluorophores used for labeling excludes the effect of the bioconjugation bias to proteins on the interpretation of the results. The relative protein concentration is measured by comparing the ratio of the fluorescence intensity of sample spots to the ratio of the intensity monitored for a reference protein. This approach has been applied to study protein profiling in pathological tissues and cells [196,198,202,203]. However, the two-color detection capacity is within about 3 log of concentrations and is limited in the assessment of low-abundance proteins in a single assay [186]. The two-color approach has recently been strengthened by coupling it to rolling-circle amplification, which increased by up to 30-fold the sensitivity of the detection of low-abundance proteins with a high accuracy and reproducibility in the 24 sera tested in parallel assays [204].

Another mono-color approach, called "competitive displacement", detects protein abundance with antibodies immobilized in hydrogel through competition of target proteins in two samples mixed in increasing ratios, 1:1, 1:10, etc., when only one sample, considered as a reference, is labeled [205]. According to this approach, the proteins of similar concentrations in samples mixed in the ratios 1:1 and 1:10 would give, respectively, 50 and 90% displacement, which can be detected by the reduction in fluorescence intensity. For upregulated proteins, the displacement level will be more significant whereas for down-regulated proteins it will be less significant. This approach moves away from the saturation of spots since the signal falls as a result of the antibody binding to non-labeled proteins therefore a wider range of protein concentrations might be detected in a single assay. However, it does not take into consideration that the conjugated fluorophores affect protein topology, molecular mass, solubility and diffusion in hydrogel thus labeled and non-labeled proteins can be rather different in their competitiveness, which might distort the profiling of proteins.



Fig. 4. Strategies for protein expression profiling by protein arrays. The "two-color" and "competitive displacement" approaches use antibody arrays whereas the "reverse phase" approach uses arrays of immobilized total proteins from tissue specimens. For details, see text.

In the third approach, referred to as "reverse-phase protein microarray", the positioning of antibodies and proteins is inversed in the experimental design [110,111,206]. It is the mAb that detects a target protein in a total protein fraction extracted from a biological sample and arrayed on the support. Such a direct capture assay to measure the protein concentration by chemiluminescence or fluorescence, including the detection of low-abundance proteins by the tyramide amplification method, is well suited to compare protein profiles in numerous clinical specimens [207].

A major hindrance to the performance of protein profiling approaches is the lack of a real specificity of available antibodies; only between 5 and 20% of commercial mAbs can be considered useful for protein profiling experiments [186,208]. Indeed, if a total cross-reaction and non-specific interaction strength prevails over the expected specific interaction with a target protein, then a relative measurement of captured proteins becomes impossible on spots. A traditional way to override this obstacle is the experimental design with two mAbs which recognize different epitopes in the same protein; the first to capture the protein and the second to select the captured protein. Such a sandwich method allows profiling to be assessed more precisely. It has been successfully applied to follow the synthesis and secretion of a limited number of proteins, such as cytokines, a group of mediator proteins involved in cell communication [120,199,200,209].

Recently, the proteome microarray has been proposed as a means to estimate the quality of antibodies, in terms of their cross-reactions with other proteins, and to choose the best candidates [210]. Furthermore, full-length antibodies can be replaced by smaller, more stable, soluble domain antibodies [211], by recombinant single chain Fv fragments (scFvs) [212], by antibodies from camel [213] which will appear to respond better to protein array technological requirements. Nucleic acid-based binders, like aptamers and photoaptamers, have also been tested as arrays for multiplexed measurement of proteins in serum samples [214,215]. The development of a new format of a double chip protein array, using two congruent surfaces that contain spotted protein and scFvs of interest, can also significantly diminish cross-reactions [216,217].

5.2.3. Protein domain arrays

Protein interactions are basically determined by the structural features of proteins. Two proteins can establish functional contacts through specific recognition of a short target sequence in one partner by a specialized interaction domain located in another partner [177]. A modular organization of regulatory proteins is also crucial for the molecular recognition of nucleic acids, phospholipids and small ligands. Moreover, it turns out that the cell uses a limited set of interaction domains, which, being able to fold independently and be presented in different combinations in proteins, can recognize various motifs in interacting partners. Therefore, they can direct distinct regulatory pathways such as phosphorylation-dependent and -independent signal transduction, ubiquitination, targeted proteolysis, cell

polarization, endocytosis, etc. [218]. Interaction domains, usually comprised of 35–200 amino acids [219] and a short ligand motif can be predicted in suspected proteins by the identification of conserved amino acid sequences [220,221] and protein–protein interactions can be characterized experimentally using probes of degenerate synthetic or phage displayed peptides, yeast two-hybrid and mass-spectroscopic techniques [222]. The protein interacting domains described are grouped into protein families (Pfam), which are available in a database (http://pfam.wust.edu/).

The first protein domain microarray was prepared by immobilization of 212 purified GST-tagged proteins on a nitrocellulose membrane and probed to peptides potentially able to recognize 10 different protein interaction domains [223]. The detection of bound molecules was carried out with Cy3- and Cy5-labeled peptide probes or with anti-domain primary antibodies, which were recognized by appropriate FITS-conjugated secondary antibodies. Two-color detection of unmethylated and methylated arginine in a peptide carrying the P3 motif of Sam68 discriminated between proteins with SH3 domains that are highly sensitive to arginine methylation and less specific WW domains. The method was rather sensitive for detecting the characteristic binding profiles of endogenous proteins in total cellular extracts using primary antibodies against the dominant P3 and PGM interaction motifs located within proline-rich Sam68 and SmB' regions, respectively. The acquired information has been useful in searching for low-molecular inhibitors of arginine methylation of N-methyltransferase involved in transcriptional activation [224].

Protein microarrays have also been used to identify interacting partners with tuberin, encoded by the tuberosis sclerosis complex 2 tumor suppressor gene [225]. Tuberin is a target for phosphorylation by Akt kinase that negatively regulates downstream signaling pathways and shares similar phosphorylation sites with other proteins like 14-3-3. Ten putative phosphorylation sites were predicted on tuberin in silico. A protein domain microarray was prepared for candidate domains and motifs including 14-3-3 proteins and screened for the ability to interact with phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated tuberin-specific peptides.

A coiled-coil domain (leucine-zipper that forms a globular structure) microarray was prepared from 49 highly purified peptides representing 16 families of human bZIP and 10 yeast proteins [226]. To exclude homodimerization, peptides were denatured, printed and probed with denatured fluorescent peptides. The strength of interaction in a range of $50 \text{ nM}-3 \mu \text{M}$ could be measured using internal standards and binding was shown to occur with high selectivity although the bZIP coiled coils share remarkable sequence similarity. Peptides within similar families possessed close interaction strength, whereas peptides from different families formed distinct binding patterns. Furthermore, several new candidate interactions were identified that appear to be involved in intracellular signaling and circadian machinery-related pathways.

The WW domain, with two highly conserved tryptophan (W) residues spaced within a 30-40 amino acid stretch that binds proline-rich ligands, has been found in signaling proteins involved in cell-cycle control and co-activation of transcription [227,228]. Several subgroups of WW domains displaying different binding specificity with respect to WW peptide ligands have been described [229]. The WW domain is implicated directly or indirectly in muscular dystrophy, cancer. Alzheimer's and Huntington's diseases [230]. The array approach has been applied to map WW domain protein interactions using 96-well plates by a quantitative ELISA-like binding assay [221]. A total of 2189 putative WW peptide ligands, with a length ranging from 10 to 16 amino acids, were probed to 30 WW GST-fusion domains. The WW functional domains were classified by their ability to bind four subgroups of peptide ligands. The construction of the first WW domain-ligand protein-protein interaction map by a protein array is of particular importance in a better understanding of severe pathologies and in the search for new therapeutic targets and WW domain specific inhibitors.

The fact that interaction domains alone, being isolated from the context of corresponding proteins as small and globular structures, are still able to fold correctly and interact specifically gives priority to the array method over other highthroughput methods in studying protein–protein interactions. Further application of protein domain arrays can accelerate the characterization of functional interaction maps in organisms and will, therefore, have a greater biomedical importance.

6. Conclusion

The specificity of protein interactions takes on special significance as a general problem in biology. Protein interactions with other proteins and with DNA by specialized binding modules determine primarily the diversity of biological processes and orchestrate the fundamental regulatory and signal pathways in organisms. Physically interacting proteins appear to be precisely co-expressed to preserve the proper stoichiometry among partners and perhaps have evolved in a coordinated manner to conserve functionally important contacts [231]. The elucidation of functionally significant interactions on a large scale might help to understand both the role of individual interacting partners and the order of cascade protein interrelations in cellular regulatory and signaling pathways as well as the consequences of an interruption of a given interaction in the development of pathological processes.

The technological advances in the use of protein arrays mark a new step in proteomics by providing a highthroughput and multiplexed method to study protein interactions for basic and applied purposes. It appears that the coupling of genomics with proteomics through the fabrication of defined protein arrays based on the knowledge of genome sequences will be the quickest and most efficient way to understand structure–function relationships in entire organisms. Protein arrays address the expression profile and post-translation modifications of proteins, the assessment of the immune response, the identification of biomarkers, the screening of targets for therapeutic purposes, the choice of vaccine candidates and the search for new leads. Obviously, various formats of protein arrays will become indispensable to solve urgent biomedical problems.

Acknowledgements

I thank Dr. Erhard Fernholz for comments and nonpublished data. Work in the author's laboratory was supported by the "Post-Génome" program (Contrat Etat Région des Pays de la Loire) and partially by the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique.

References

- [1] I. Xenarios, D. Eisenberg, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 12 (2001) 334.
- [2] A.F. Yakunin, A.A. Yee, A. Savchenko, A.M. Edwards, C.H. Arrowsmith, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 8 (2004) 42.
- [3] P. Legrain, J. Wojcik, J.-M. Gauthier, Trends Genet. 17 (2001) 346.
- [4] D. Figeys, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14 (2003) 119.
- [5] R. Ekins, F. Chu, in: J.S. Albala, I. Humphery-Smith (Eds.), Protein Arrays, Biochips, and Proteomics. The Next Phase of Genomic Discovery, Marcel Dekker Inc., 2003, p. 81.
- [6] H. Ge, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) e3.i.
- [7] G. MacBeath, S. Schreiber, Science 289 (2000) 1760.
- [8] H. Zhu, M. Bilgin, R. Bangham, D. Hall, A. Casamayor, P. Bertone, N. Lan, R. Jansen, S. Bidlingmaier, T. Houfek, T. Mitchell, P. Miller, R.A. Dean, M. Gerstein, M. Snyder, Science 293 (2001) 2101.
- [9] A. Bradbury, N. Velappan, V. Verzillo, M. Ovecka, L. Chasteen, D. Sblattero, R. Marzari, J. Lou, R. Siegel, P. Pavlik, Trends Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 275.
- [10] R. Frank, J. Immunol. Methods 267 (2002) 13.
- [11] C. Aslanidis, P.J. de Jong, Nucleic Acids Res. 18 (1990) 6069.
- [12] R.S. Haun, I.M. Serventi, J. Moss. Biotech. 13 (1992) 515.
- [13] L. Stols, M. Gu, L. Dieckman, R. Raffen, F.R. Collart, M.I. Donnelly, Protein Expr. Purif. 25 (2002) 8.
- [14] Y.-P. Shih, W.-M. Kung, J.-C. Chen, C.-H. Yeh, A.H.-J. Wang, T.-F. Wang, Protein Sci. 11 (2002) 1714.
- [15] S.N. Ho, H.D. Hunt, R.M. Horton, J.K. Pullen, L.R. Pease, Gene 77 (1989) 51.
- [16] A.R. Shuldiner, K. Tanner, L.A. Scott, C.A. Moore, J. Roth, Anal. Biochem. 194 (1991) 9.
- [17] J.A. Heyman, J. Cornthwaite, L. Foncerrada, J.R. Gilmore, E. Gontang, K.J. Hartman, C.L. Hernandez, R. Hood, H.M. Hull, W.-Y. Lee, R. Marcil, E.J. Marsh, K.M. Mudd, M.J. Patino, T.J. Purcell, J.J. Rowland, M.L. Sindici, J.P. Hoeffler, Genome Res. 9 (1999) 383.
- [18] Q. Liu, M.Z. Li, D. Leibham, D. Cortez, S.J. Elledge, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) 130.
- [19] J.L. Hartley, G.F. Temple, M.A. Brasch, Genome Res. 10 (2000) 1788.
- [20] P. Bubeck, M. Winkler, W. Bautsch, Nucleic Acids Res. 21 (1993) 3601.
- [21] J.D. Oliner, K.W. Kizler, B. Vogelstein, Nucleic Acids Res. 21 (1993) 5192.

- [22] J.R. Hudson Jr., E.P. Dawson, K.L. Rushing, C.H. Jackson, D. Lockshon, D. Conover, C. Lanciault, J.R. Harris, S.J. Simmons, R. Rothstein, S. Fields, Genome Res. 7 (1997) 1169.
- [23] P. Uetz, L. Giot, G. Cagney, T.A. Mansfield, R.S. Judson, J.R. Knight, D. Narayan, M. Srinivasan, P. Pochart, A. Qureshi-Emili, Y. LI, B. Godwin, D. Conover, T. Kalbfleisch, G. Vijayadamodar, M. Yang, M. Johnston, S. Fields, J.M. Rothberg, Nature 403 (2000) 623.
- [24] J.R. Parrish, T. Limjindaporn, J.A. Hines, J. Liu, G. Liu, R.L. Finley Jr., J. Proteome Res. (2004) 10.1021/pr0341134, on-line.
- [25] S.C. Makrides, Microbiol. Rev. 60 (1996) 512.
- [26] E. Hochuli, H. Dobeli, A. Schacher, J. Chromatogr. 411 (1987) 177.
- [27] D.B. Smith, K.S. Johnson, Gene 67 (1988) 31.
- [28] R.B. Kapust, D.S. Waugh, Protein Sci. 8 (1999) 1668.
- [29] M. Hammarström, N. Hellgren, S. van Den Berg, H. Berglund, T. Hard, Protein Sci. 11 (2002) 313.
- [30] K.D. Pryor, B. Leiting, Protein Expr. Purif. 10 (1997) 309.
- [31] J.H. Park, E.A. Choi, E.W. Cho, K.S. Hahm, K.L. Kim, Mol. Cells 8 (1998) 709.
- [32] G.S. Waldo, B.M. Standish, J. Berendzer, T.C. Terwilliger, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 691.
- [33] J.-D. Pédelacq, E. Piltch, E.C. Liong, J. Berendzen, C.-Y. Kim, B.-S. Rho, M.S. Park, T.C. Terwilliger, G.S. Waldo, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 927.
- [34] M. Nakayama, O. Ohara, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 312 (2003) 825.
- [35] D. Christendat, A. Yee, A. Dharamsi, Y. Kluger, A. Savchenko, J.R. Cort, V. Booth, C.D. Mackereth, V. Saridakis, I. Ekiel, G. Kozlov, K.L. Maxwell, N. Wu, L.P. McIntosh, K. Gehring, M.A. Kennedy, K.L.A.R. Davidson, E.F. Pai, M. Gerstein, A.M. Edwards, C.H. Arrowsmith, Nat. Struct. Biol. 7 (2000) 903.
- [36] S.A. Lesley, P. Kuhn, A. Godzik, A.M. Deacon, I. Mathews, A. Kreusch, G. Spraggon, H.E. Klock, D. McMullan, T. Shin, J. Vincent, A. Robb, L.S. Brinen, M.D. Miller, T.M. McPhillips, M.A. Miller, D. Scheibe, J.M. Canaves, C. Guda, L. Jaroszewski, T.L. Selby, M.-A. Elsliger, J. Wooley, S.S. Taylor, K.O. Hodgson, I.A. Wilson, P.G. Schultz, R.C. Stevens, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 11664.
- [37] P. Braun, Y. Hu, B. Shen, A. Halleck, M. Koundinya, E. Harlow, J. LaBaer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 2654.
- [38] M.R. Chance, A.R. Bresnick, S.K. Burley, J.-S. Jiang, C.D. Lima, A. Sali, S.C. Almo, J.B. Bonanno, J.A. Buglino, S. Boulton, H. Chen, N. Eswar, G. He, R. Huang, V. Ilyin, L. McMahan, U. Pieper, S. Ray, M. Vidal, L.K. Wang, Protein Sci. 11 (2002) 723.
- [39] F.U. Hartl, M. Hayer-Hartl, Science 295 (2002) 1852.
- [40] V.R. Agashe, S. Guha, H.C. Chang, P. Genevaux, M. Hayer-Hartl, M. Stemp, C. Georgopoulos, F.U. Hartl, J.M. Barral, Cell 117 (2004) 199.
- [41] H. Zhu, J.F. Klemic, S. Chang, P. Bertone, A. Casamayor, K.G. Klemic, D. Smith, M. Gerstein, M.A. Reed, M. Snyder, Nat. Genet. 26 (2000) 283.
- [42] M. Nasoff, M. Bergseid, J.P. Hoeffler, J.A. Heyman, Methods Enzymol. 328 (2000) 515.
- [43] J.S. Albala, K. Franke, I.R. McConnell, K.L. Pak, P.A. Folta, B. Rubinfeld, A.H. Davies, G.G. Lennon, R. Clark, J. Cell. Biochem. 80 (2000) 187.
- [44] C. Scheich, V. Sievert, K. Büssow, BMC Biotechnol. 3 (2003) 1.
- [45] C. Holz, O. Hesse, N. Bolotina, U. Stahl, C. Lang, Protein Expr. Purif. 25 (2002) 372.
- [46] M. Boettner, B. Prinz, C. Holz, U. Stahl, C. Lang, J. Biotechnol. 99 (2002) 51.
- [47] P. Sebastian, J. Wallwitz, S. Schmidt, J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 786 (2003) 343.
- [48] A. Yee, X. Chang, A. Pineda-Lucena, B. Wu, A. Semesi, B. Le, T. Ramelot, G.M. Lee, S. Bhattacharyya, P. Gutierrez, A. Denisov, C.H. Lee, J.R. Cort, G. Kozlov, J. Liao, G. Finak, L. Chen, D.

Wishart, W. Lee, L.P. McIntosh, K. Gehring, M.A. Kennedy, A.M. Edwards, C.H. Arrowsmith, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 1825.

- [49] J.K. De Vries, G. Zubay, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 57 (1967) 1010.
- [50] Y. Kawarasaki, T. Kawai, H. Nakano, T. Yamane, Anal. Biochem. 58 (1995) 631.
- [51] D.M. Kim, T. Kigawa, C.Y. Chen, S. Yokoyama, Eur. J. Biochem. 239 (1996) 881.
- [52] T. Kigawa, T. Yabuki, Y. Yoshida, M. Tsutsui, Y. Ito, T. Shibata, S. Yokoyama, FEBS Lett. 442 (1999) 15.
- [53] M.C. Jewett, J.R. Swartz, Biotechnol. Prog. 20 (2004) 102.
- [54] V. Sakanyan, M. Snapyan, A. Ghochikyan, M. Lecocq, L. Guével, P. Weigel, F. Braun, Patent Application PCT/EP 02/09424 (2001).
- [55] D. Busso, R. Kim, S.-H. Kim, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 55 (2003) 233.
- [56] B.E. Roberts, B.M. Paterson, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 70 (1973) 2330.
- [57] H.R. Pelham, R.J. Jackson, Eur. J. Biochem. 67 (1976) 247.
- [58] K. Madin, T. Sawasaki, T. Ogasawara, Y. Endo, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 559.
- [59] T. Sawasaki, T. Ogasawara, R. Morishita, Y. Endo, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 14652.
- [60] E. Miyamoto-Sato, H. Takashima, S. Fuse, K. Sue, M. Ishizaka, S. Tateyama, K. Horisawa, T. Sawasaki, Y. Endo, H. Yanagawa, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (2003) e78.
- [61] A.S. Spirin, V.I. Baranov, L.A. Ryabova, S.Y. Ovodov, Y.B. Alakhov, Science 242 (1988) 1162.
- [62] T. Kigawa, S. Yokoyama, J. Biochem. 110 (1991) 166.
- [63] M.N. Chekulayeva, O.V. Kurnasov, V.A. Shirokov, A.S. Spirin, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 280 (2001) 914.
- [64] M. Hino, Y. Shinohara, K. Kajimoto, H. Terada, Y. Baba, Protein Expr. Purif. 24 (2002) 255.
- [65] R.K.C. Knaust, P. Nordlund, Anal. Biochem. 297 (2001) 79.
- [66] L. Dieckman, M. Gu, L. Stols, M.I. Donnelly, F.R. Collart, Protein Expr. Purif. 25 (2002) 1.
- [67] M. He, M.J. Taussig, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) e73.
- [68] J. Glökler, P. Angenendt, J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 797 (2003) 229.
- [69] J.E. Butler, L. Ni, W.R. Brown, K.S. Joshi, J. Chang, B. Rosenberg, E.W. Voss Jr., Mol. Immunol. 30 (1993) 1165.
- [70] D.L. Elbert, J.A. Hubbell, Chem. Biol. 5 (1998) 177.
- [71] L.A. Ruiz-Taylor, T.L. Martin, F.G. Zaugg, K. Witte, P. Indermuhle, S. Nock, P. Wagner, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 852.
- [72] P. Angenendt, J. Glôkler, D. Murphy, H. Lehrach, D.J. Cahill, Anal. Biochem. 309 (2002) 253.
- [73] B. Lu, M.R. Smyth, R. O'Kennedy, Analyst 121 (1996) 29R.
- [74] R.A. Vijayendran, D.E. Leckband, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 471.
- [75] W. Kusnezow, A. Jacob, A. Walijew, F. Diehl, J.D. Hoheisel, Proteomics 3 (2003) 254.
- [76] P. Peluso, D.S. Wilson, D. Do, H. Tran, M. Venkatasubbaiah, D. Quincy, B. Heidecker, K. Poindexter, N. Tolan, M. Phelan, K. Witte, L.S. Jung, P. Wagner, S. Nock, Anal. Biochem. 312 (2003) 113.
- [77] P. Pavlickova, A. Knappik, D. Kambhampati, F. Ortigao, H. Hug, Biotechniques 34 (2003) 124.
- [78] M.A. Lesaicherre, R.Y.P. Lue, G.Y.J. Chen, Q. Zhu, S.Q. Yao, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 8768.
- [79] R.Y. Lue, G.Y. Chen, Q. Zhu, M.A. Lesaicherre, S.Q. Yao, Methods Mol. Biol. 278 (2004) 85.
- [80] Y. Kawahashi, N. Doi, H. Takashima, C. Tsuda, Y. Oishi, R. Oyama, M. Yonezawa, E. Miyamoto-Sato, H. Yanagawa, Proteomics 3 (2003) 1236.
- [81] P. Arenkov, A. Kukhtin, A. Gemmell, S. Voloshchuk, V. Chupreeva, A. Mirzabekov, Anal. Biochem. 278 (2000) 123.

- [82] A.Y. Rubina, E.I. Dementieva, A.A. Stomakhin, E.L. Darii, S.V. Pan'kov, V.E. Barsky, S.M. Ivanov, E.V. Konovalova, A.D. Mirzabekov, Biotechniques 34 (2003) 1008.
- [83] S. Kiyonaka, K. Sada, I. Yoshimura, S. Shinlai, N. Kato, I. Hamachi, Nat. Mater. 3 (2004) 58.
- [84] J. Madoz-Gurpide, H. Wang, D.E. Misek, F. Brichory, S.M. Hanash, Proteomics 1 (2001) 1279.
- [85] T. Kukar, S. Eckenrode, Y. Gu, W. Lian, M. Megginson, J.-X. She, D. Wu, Anal. Biochem. 306 (2002) 50.
- [86] B.A. Stillman, J.L. Tonkinson, Biotechniques 29 (2000) 630.
- [87] M. Snapyan, M. Lecocq, L. Guével, M.-C. Arnaud, A. Ghochikyan, V. Sakanyan, Proteomics 3 (2003) 647.
- [88] L. Mendoza, P. McQuary, A. Mongan, R. Gangadharan, S. Brignac, M. Eggers, Biotechniques 27 (1999) 778.
- [89] A. Perrin, D. Duracher, M. Perret, P. Cleuziat, B. Mandrand, Anal. Biochem. 322 (2003) 148.
- [90] C.B. Cohen, E. Chin-Dixon, S. Jeong, T.T. Nikiforov, Anal. Biochem. 273 (1999) 89.
- [91] M. Pawlak, E. Schick, M.A. Bopp, M.J. Schneider, P. Oroszlan, M. Ehrat, Proteomics 2 (2002) 383.
- [92] D. Nedelkov, R.W. Nelson, Trends Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 301.
- [93] D.D. Bernhard, S. Mall, P. Pantano, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 2484.
- [94] I. Biran, D.R. Walt, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 3046.
- [95] P. Angenendt, L. Nyarsik, W. Szaflarski, J. Glôkler, K.H. Nierhaus, H. Lehrach, D.J. Cahill, A. Lueking, Anal. Chem. 76 (2004) 1844.
- [96] A. Saghatelyan, M. Snapyan, S. Gorissen, I. Meigel, J. Mosbacher, K. Kaupmann, B. Bettler, A. Kornilov, N. Nifantiev, V. Sakanyan, M. Schachner, A. Dityatev, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 24 (2003) 271.
- [97] Y. Fang, A.G. Frutos, J. Lahiri, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 2394.
- [98] N. Nemoto, E. Miyamoto-Sato, H. Yanagawa, FEBS Lett. 462 (1999) 43.
- [99] E. Miyamoto-Sato, N. Nemoto, K. Kobayashi, H. Yanagawa, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) 1176.
- [100] J. Yamaguchi, N. Nemoto, T. Sasaki, A. Tokumasu, Y. Mimori-Kiyosue, T. Yagi, T. Funatsu, FEBS Lett. 502 (2001) 79.
- [101] N. Doi, H. Takashima, M. Kinjo, K. Sakata, Y. Kawahashi, Y. Oishi, R. Oyama, E. Miyamoto-Sato, T. Sawasaki, Y. Endo, H. Yanagawa, Genome Res. 12 (2002) 487.
- [102] U. Varshney, U.L. RajBhandary, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87 (1990) 1586.
- [103] S. Gite, S. Mamaev, J. Olejnik, K. Rothschild, Anal. Biochem. 279 (2000) 218.
- [104] S. Mamaev, J. Olejnik, E. Krzymanska Olejnik, K.J. Rothschild, Anal. Biochem. 326 (2004) 25.
- [105] R. Ekins, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 7 (1989) 155.
- [106] R. Ekins, F. Chu, E. Biggart, Ann. Biol. Clin. (France) 48 (1990) 655.
- [107] D. Stoll, M.F. Templin, M. Schrenk, P.C. Traub, C.E. Vöhringer, T.O. Joos, Front. Biosci. 7 (2002) 1.
- [108] J.W. Silzel, B. Cercek, C. Dodson, T. Tsay, R. Obremski, Clin. Chem. 44 (1998) 2036.
- [109] M.M. Esser, T.M. Urlacher, D. Draney, D.M. Olive, On-line posters 2000, www.licor.com.
- [110] C.P. Paweletz, L. Charboneau, V.E. Bichsel, N.L. Simone, T. Chen, J.W. Gillespie, M.R. Emmert-Buck, M.J. Roth, E.F. Petricoin, L.A. Liotta, Oncogene 20 (2001) 1981.
- [111] S. Nishizuka, L. Charboneau, L. Young, S. Major, W.C. Reinhold, M. Waltham, H. Kouros-Mehr, K.J. Bussey, J.K. Lee, V. Espina, P.J. Munson, E. Petricoin, L.A. Liotta, J.N. Weinstein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 14229.
- [112] T. Bacarese-Hamilton, L. Mezzasome, C. Inghame, A. Ardizzoni, R. Rossi, F. Bistoni, A. Crisanti, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 1367.
- [113] T. Sano, C. Smith, C.R. Cantor, Science 258 (1992) 120.
- [114] V. Ruzicka, W. Marz, A. Russ, W. Gross, Sceince 260 (1993) 698.
- [115] H.R. Zhou, J. Fisher, T.S. Papas, Nucleic Acids Res. 21 (1993) 6038.

- [116] E.R. Hendrickson, T.M. Hatfield, R.D. Joerger, W.R. Majarian, R.C. Ebersole, Nucleic Acids Res. 23 (1995) 522.
- [117] P.M. Lizardi, X. Huang, Z. Zhu, P. Bray-Ward, D.C. Thomas, D.C. Ward, Nat. Genet. 19 (1998) 225.
- [118] B. Schweitzer, S. Wiltshire, J. Lambert, S. O'Malley, K. Kukanskis, Z. Zhu, S. Kingsmore, P. Lizardi, D. Ward, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 10113.
- [119] G. Nallur, C. Luo, L. Fang, S. Cooley, V. Dave, J. Lambert, K. Kukanskis, S. Kingsmore, R. Lasken, B. Schweitzer, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) e118.
- [120] B. Schweitzer, S. Roberts, B. Grimwade, W. Shao, M. Wang, Q. Fu, Q. Shu, I. Laroche, Z. Zhou, V.T. Tchernev, J. Christiansen, M. Velleca, S.F. Kingsmore, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 359.
- [121] S. Wiltshire, S. O'Malley, J. Lambert, K. Kukanskis, D. Edgar, S.F. Kingsmore, B. Schweitzer, Clin. Chem. 46 (2000) 1990.
- [122] M.C. Mullenix, S. Wiltshire, W. Shao, G. Kitos, B. Schweitzer, Clin. Chem. 47 (2001) 1926.
- [123] S. Fredriksson, M. Gullberg, J. Jarvius, C. Olsson, K. Pietras, S.M. Gustafsdottir, A. Östman, U. Landegren, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 473.
- [124] M. Gullberg, S. Fredriksson, M. Taussig, J. Jarvius, S. Gustafsdottir, U. Landegren, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14 (2003) 82.
- [125] J. Fritz, M.K. Baller, H.P. Lang, H. Rothuizen, P. Vettiger, E. Meyer, H.J. Gûntherodt, C. Gerber, J.K. Gimzewski, Science 288 (2000) 316.
- [126] G.H. Wu, R.H. Datar, K.M. Hansen, T. Thundat, R.J. Cote, A. Majumdar, Nat. Biotechnol. 19 (2001) 856.
- [127] R. McKendry, J. Zhang, Y. Arntz, T. Strunz, M. Hegner, H.P. Lang, M.K. Baller, U. Certa, E. Meyer, H.-J. Güntherodt, C. Gerber, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99 (2002) 9783.
- [128] S. Fields, O. Song, Nature 340 (1989) 245.
- [129] S. McCraith, T. Holtzman, B. Moss, S. Fields, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 4879.
- [130] T. Ito, K. Tashiro, S. Muta, R. Ozawa, T. Chiba, M. Nishizawa, K. Yamamoto, S. Kuhara, Y. Sakaki, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 1143.
- [131] T. Ito, T. Chiba, R. Ozawa, M. Yoshida, M. Hattori, Y. Sakaki, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 4569.
- [132] L. Giot, J.S. Bader, C. Brouwer, A. Chaudhuri, B. Kuang, Y. Li, Y.L. Hao, C.E. Ooi, B. Godwin, E. Vitols, G. Vijayadamodar, P. Pochart, H. Machineni, M. Welsh, Y. Kong, B. Zerhusen, R. Malcolm, Z. Varrone, A. Collis, M. Minto, S. Burgess, L. McDaniel, E. Stimpson, F. Spriggs, J. Williams, K. Neurath, N. Ioime, M. Agee, E. Voss, K. Furtak, R. Renzulli, N. Aanensen, S. Carrolla, E. Bickelhaupt, Y. Lazovatsky, A. DaSilva, J. Zhong, C.A. Stanyon, R.L. Finley Jr., K.P. White, M. Braverman, T. Jarvie, S. Gold, M. Leach, J. Knight, R.A. Shimkets, M.P. McKenna, J. Chant, J.M. Rothberg, Science 302 (2003) 1727.
- [133] S. Li, C.M. Armstrong, N. Bertin, H. Ge, S. Milstein, M. Boxem, P.O. Vidalain, J.D. Han, A. Chesneau, T. Hao, D.S. Goldberg, N. Li, M. Martinez, J.F. Rual, P. Lamesch, L. Xu, M. Tewari, S.L. Wong, L.V. Zhang, G.F. Berriz, L. Jacotot, P. Vaglio, J. Reboul, T. Hirozane-Kishikawa, Q. Li, H.W. Gabel, A. Elewa, B. Baumgartner, D.J. Rose, H. Yu, S. Bosak, R. Sequerra, A. Fraser, S.E. Mango, W.M. Saxton, S. Strome, S. Van Den Heuvel, F. Piano, J. Vandenhaute, C. Sardet, M. Gerstein, L. Doucette-Stamm, K.C. Gunsalus, J.W. Harper, M.E. Cusick, F.P. Roth, D.E. Hill, M. Vidal, Science 303 (2004) 540.
- [134] A.-C. Gavin, M. Bösche, R. Krause, P. Grandi, M. Marzioch, A. Bauer, J. Schultz, J.M. Rick, A.-M. Michon, C.-M. Cruciat, M. Remor, C. Hofert, M. Schelder, M. Brajenovic, H. Ruffner, A. Merino, K. Klein, M. Hudak, D. Dickson, T. Rudi, V. Gnau, A. Bauch, S. Bastuck, B. Huhse, C. Leutwein, M.A. Heurtier, R.R. Copley, A. Edelmann, E. Querfurth, V. Rybin, G. Drewes, M. Raida, T. Bouwmeester, P. Bork, B. Seraphin, B. Kuster, G. Neubauer, G. Superti-Furga, Nature 415 (2002) 141.

- [135] Y. Ho, A. Gruhier, A. Heilbut, G.D. Bader, L. Moore, S.-L. Adams, A. Millar, P. Taylor, K. Bennett, K. Boutilier, L. Yang, C. Wolting, I. Donaldson, S. Schandorff, J. Shewnarane, M. Vo, J. Taggart, M. Goudreault, B. Muskat, C. Alfarano, D. Dewar, Z. Lin, K. Michalickova, A.R. Willems, H. Sassi, P.A. Nielsen, K.J. Rasmussen, J.R. Andersen, L.E. Johansen, L.H. Hansen, H. Jespersen, A. Podtelejnikov, E. Nielsen, J. Crawford, V. Poulsen, B.D. Sorensen, J. Matthiesen, R.C. Hendrickson, F. Gleeson, T. Pawson, M.F. Moran, D. Durocher, M. Mann, C.W. Hogue, D. Figeys, M. Tyers, Nature 415 (2002) 180.
- [136] M. Ptashne, Nature 386 (1997) 569.
- [137] E. Nordhoff, A.M. Krogsdam, H.F. Jorgensen, B.H. Kallipolitis, B.F. Clark, P. Roepstorff, K. Kristiansen, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 884.
- [138] H. Yokota, K. Fung, B.J. Trask, G. van den Engh, M. Sarikaya, R. Aebersold, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 1663.
- [139] Q.-H. Wan, X.C. Le, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 5583.
- [140] N.V. Kumar, L.R. Bernstein, Anal. Biochem. 299 (2001) 203.
- [141] D.J. LeCaptain, M.A. Michel, A. Van Orden, Analyst 126 (2001) 1279.
- [142] H. Wang, J. Xing, W. Tan, M. Lam, T. Carnelley, M. Weinfeld, X.C. Le, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 3714.
- [143] T. Heyduk, E. Heyduk, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 171.
- [144] M.J. Storek, A. Ernst, G.L. Verdine, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 183.
- [145] M.Y. Liu, S. Cai, A. Espejo, M.T. Bedford, C.L. Walker, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 6475.
- [146] N.V. Taverner, J.C. Smith, F.C. Wardle, Genome Biol. 5 (2004) 210.
- [147] M.L. Bulyk, E. Gentalen, D.J. Lockhart, G.M. Church, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 573.
- [148] A.S. Krylov, O.A. Zasedateleva, D.V. Prokopenko, J. Rouviere-Yaniv, A.D. Mirzabekov, Nucleic Acids Res. 29 (2001) 2654.
- [149] J. Wang, Y. Bai, T. Li, Z. Lu, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 55 (2003) 215.
- [150] M.L. Bulyk, X. Huang, Y. Choo, G.M. Church, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 7158.
- [151] M.L. Bulyk, P.L.F. Johnson, G.M. Church, Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (2002) 1255.
- [152] J. Linnell, R. Mott, S. Field, D.P. Kwiatkowski, J. Ragoussis, I.A. Udalova, Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (2004) e44.
- [153] V. Orlando, Trends Biochem. Sci. 25 (2000) 99.
- [154] B. Ren, F. Robert, J.J. Wyrick, O. Aparicio, E.G. Jennings, I. Simon, J. Zeitlinger, J. Schreiber, N. Hannett, E. Kanin, T.L. Volkert, C.J. Wilson, S.P. Bell, R.A. Young, Science 290 (2000) 2306.
- [155] B. Ren, H. Cam, Y. Takahashi, T. Volkert, J. Terragni, R.A. Young, B.D. Dynlacht, Genes Dev. 16 (2002) 245.
- [156] R. Martone, G. Euskirchen, P. Bertone, S. Hartman, T.E. Royce, N.M. Luscombe, J.L. Rinn, F.K. Nelson, P. Miller, M. Gerstein, S. Weissman, M. Snyder, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 12247.
- [157] G. Euskirchen, T.E. Royce, P. Bertone, R. Martone, J.L. Rinn, F.K. Nelson, F. Sayward, N.M. Luscombe, P. Miller, M. Gerstein, S. Weissman, M. Snyder, Mol. Cell. Biol. 24 (2004) 3804.
- [158] X. Jiang, M. Norman, X. Li, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1642 (2003) 1.
- [159] B. van Steensel, S. Henikoff, Nat. Biotechnol. 18 (2000) 424.
- [160] B. van Steensel, J. Delrow, S. Henikoff, Nat. Genet. 27 (2001) 304.
- [161] J.S. Shumaker-Parry, R. Aebersold, C.T. Campbell, Anal. Chem. 76 (2004) 2071.
- [162] S. Werten, G. Stelzer, A. Goppelt, F.W.M. Langen, P. Gros, H.Th.M. Timmers, P.C. Van der Vliet, M. Meisterernst, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 5103.
- [163] A. Ghochikyan, I. Karaivanova, M. Lecocq, P. Vusio, M.-C. Arnaud, M. Snapyan, P. Weigel, L. Guével, M. Buckle, V. Sakanyan, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 6602.

- [164] A. Morin, N. Huysveld, F. Braun, D. Dimova, V. Sakanyan, D. Charlier, J. Mol. Biol. 332 (2003) 537.
- [165] M. Sunnerhagen, M. Nilges, G. Otting, J. Carey, Nat. Struct. Biol. 4 (1997) 819.
- [166] J.-P. Ni, V. Sakanyan, D. Charlier, N. Glansdorff, G.D. Van Duyne, Nat. Struct. Biol. 6 (1999) 427.
- [167] D. Charlier, M. Roovers, F. Van Vliet, A. Boyen, R. Cunin, Y. Nakamura, N. Glansdorff, A. Pierard, J. Mol. Biol. 226 (1992) 367.
- [168] G. Tian, D. Lim, J. Carey, W.K. Maas, J. Mol. Biol. 226 (1992) 387.
- [169] G.D. Van Duyne, G. Ghosh, W.K. Maas, P.B. Sigler, J. Mol. Biol. 256 (1996) 377.
- [170] D. Paulin, personal communication.
- [171] A.K. Mapp, A.Z. Ansari, M. Ptashne, P.B. Dervan, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97 (2000) 3930.
- [172] B. Liu, Y. Han, D.R. Corey, T. Kodadek, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 1838.
- [173] P. Blancafort, L. Magnenat, C.F. Barbas, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 269.
- [174] K.H. Bae, Y.D. Kwon, H.C. Shin, M.S. Hwang, E.H. Ryu, K.S. Park, H.Y. Yang, D.K. Lee, Y. Lee, J. Park, H.S. Kwon, H.W. Kim, B.I. Yeh, H.W. Lee, S.H. Sohn, J. Yoon, W. Seol, J.S. Kim, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 275.
- [175] K. Büssow, D. Cahill, W. Nietfeld, D. Bancroft, E. Scherzinger, H. Lehrach, G. Walter, Nucleic Acids Res. 26 (1998) 5007.
- [176] L.J. Holt, K. Büssow, G. Walter, I.M. Tomlinson, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) e72.
- [177] T. Pawson, J.D. Scott, Science 278 (1997) 2075.
- [178] B.T. Houseman, J.H. Huh, S.J. Kro, M. Mrksich, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 270.
- [179] M.A. Lesaicherre, M. Uttamchandani, G.Y.J. Chen, S.Q. Yao, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 12 (2002) 2085.
- [180] M.A. Coleman, K.A. Miller, P.T. Beernink, D.M. Yoshikawa, J.S. Albala, Proteomics 3 (2003) 2101.
- [181] R.M.T. De Wildt, C.R. Mundy, B.D. Gorick, I.M. Tomlinson, Nat. Biotechnol. 18 (2000) 989.
- [182] M.-C. Arnaud, T. Gazarian, Y. Palacios Rodriguez, K. Gazarian, V. Sakanyan, Proteomics 4 (2004) 1959.
- [183] A.P. Du, D. Limal, V. Semetey, H. Dali, M. Jolivet, C. Desgranges, M.T. Cung, J.P. Briand, M.C. Petit, S. Muller, J. Mol. Biol. 323 (2002) 503.
- [184] J.W. Gnann Jr., P.L. Schwimmbeck, J.A. Nelson, A.B. Truax, M.B. Oldstone, J. Infect. Dis. 156 (1987) 261.
- [185] T.O. Joos, M. Schrenk, P. Hopfl, K. Kroger, U. Chowdhury, D. Stoll, D. Schorner, M. Durr, K. Herick, S. Rupp, K. Sohn, H. Hammerle, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 2641.
- [186] B.B. Haab, M.J. Dunham, P.O. Brown, Genome Biol. 2 (2001) research0004.1.
- [187] L. Mezzasoma, T. Bacarese-Hamilton, M. Di Cristina, R. Rossi, F. Bistoni, A. Crisanti, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 121.
- [188] W.H. Robinson, C. DiGennaro, W. Hueber, B.B. Haab, M. Kamachi, E.J. Dean, S. Fournel, D. Fong, M.C. Genovese, H.E. de Vegvar, K. Skriner, D.L. Hirschberg, R.I. Morris, S. Muller, G.J. Pruijn, W.J. van Venrooij, J.S. Smolen, P.O. Brown, L. Steinman, P.J. Utz, Nat. Med. 8 (2002) 295.
- [189] C. Billich, C. Sauder, R. Frank, S. Herzog, K. Bechter, K. Takahashi, H. Peters, P. Staeheli, M. Schwemmle, Biol. Psychiatry 51 (2002) 979.
- [190] H.E. Neuman de Vegvar, R.R. Amara, L. Steinman, P.J. Utz, H.L. Robinson, W.H. Robinson, J. Virol. 77 (2003) 11125.
- [191] W.H. Robinson, P. Fontoura, B.J. Lee, H.E. de Vegvar, J. Tom, R. Pedotti, C.D. DiGennaro, D.J. Mitchell, D. Fong, P.P. Ho, P.J. Ruiz, E. Maverakis, D.B. Stevens, C.C. Bernard, R. Martin, V.K. Kuchroo, J.M. van Noort, C.P. Genain, S. Amor, T. Olsson, P.J. Utz, H. Garren, L. Steinman, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 1033.

- [192] J. Qiu, J. Madoz-Gurpide, D.E. Misek, R. Kuick, D.E. Brenner, G. Michailidis, B.B. Haab, G.S. Omenn, S. Hanash, J. Proteome Res. 3 (2004) 261.
- [193] S. Hanash, Nature 422 (2003) 226.
- [194] W.H. Robinson, L. Steinman, P.J. Utz, Proteomics 3 (2003) 2077.
- [195] V. Sakanyan, Antibiotiques (France) 6 (2004) 185.
- [196] L. Belov, O. de la Vega, C.G. dos Remedios, S.P. Mulligan, R.I. Christopherson, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 4483.
- [197] A. Sreekumar, M.K. Nyati, S. Varambally, T.R. Barrette, D. Ghosh, T.S. Lawrence, A.M. Chinnaiyan, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 7585.
- [198] V. Knezevic, C. Leethanakul, V.E. Bichsel, J.M. Worth, V.V. Prabhu, J.S. Gutkind, L.A. Liotta, P.J. Munson, E.F. Petricoin III, D.B. Krizman, Proteomics 1 (2001) 1271.
- [199] R.P. Huang, R. Huang, Y. Fan, Y. Lin, Anal. Biochem. 294 (2001) 55.
- [200] M.D. Moody, S.W. Van Arsdell, K.P. Murphy, S.F. Orencole, C. Burns, Biotechniques 31 (2001) 186.
- [201] U.B. Nielsen, M.H. Cardone, A.J. Sinskey, G. MacBeath, P.K. Sorger, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 9330.
- [202] J.C. Miller, H. Zhou, J. Kwekel, R. Cavallo, J. Burke, E.B. Butler, B.S. Teh, B.B. Haab, Proteomics 3 (2003) 56.
- [203] A. Tannapfel, K. Anhalt, P. Hausermann, F. Sommerer, M. Benicke, D. Uhlmann, H. Witzigmann, J. Hauss, C. Wittekind, J. Pathol. 201 (2003) 238.
- [204] H. Zhou, K. Bouwman, M. Schotanus, C. Verweij, J.A. Marreo, D. Dillon, J. Costa, P. Lizardi, B.B. Haab, Genome Biol. 5 (2004) R28.1.
- [205] R. Barry, T. Diggle, J. Terrett, M. Soloviev, J. Biomol. Screen. 8 (2003) 2.
- [206] R. Graf, P. Friedl, Anal. Biochem. 273 (1999) 291.
- [207] V. Espina, A.I. Mehta, M.E. Winters, V. Calvert, J. Wulfkuhle, E.F. Petricon III, L.A. Liotta, Proteomics 3 (2003) 2091.
- [208] G. MacBeath, Nat. Genet. 32 (Suppl.) (2002) 526.
- [209] S.W. Tam, R. Wiese, S. Lee, J. Gilmore, K.D. Kumble, J. Immunol. Methods 261 (2002) 157.
- [210] G.A. Michaud, M. Salcius, F. Zhou, R. Bangham, J. Bonin, H. Guo, M. Snyder, P.F. Predki, B.I. Schweitzer, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 1509.
- [211] B. Pereira, C.R. Benedict, A. Le, S.S. Shapiro, P. Thiagarajan, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 1430.

- [212] C. Steinhauer, C. Wingren, A.C. Hager, C.A. Borrebaeck, Biotechniques (December (Suppl.)) (2002) 38.
- [213] L.J. Holt, C. Herring, L.S. Jespers, B.P. Woolven, I.M. Tomlinson, Trends Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 484.
- [214] T.G. McCauley, N. Hamaguchi, M. Stanton, Anal. Biochem. 319 (2003) 244.
- [215] C. Bock, M. Coleman, B. Collins, J. Davis, G. Foulds, L. Gold, C. Greef, J. Heil, J.S. Heilig, B. Hicke, M.N. Hurst, G.M. Husar, D. Miller, R. Ostroff, H. Petach, D. Schneider, B. Vant-Hull, S. Waugh, A. Weiss, S.K. Wilcox, D. Zichi, Proteomics 4 (2004) 609.
- [216] C. Albrecht, K. Blank, M. Lalic-Mülthaler, S. Hirler, T. Mai, I. Gilbert, S. Schiffmann, T. Bayer, H. Clausen-Schaumann, H.E. Gaub, Science 301 (2003) 367.
- [217] I. Gilbert, S. Schiffmann, S. Rubenwolf, K. Jensen, T. Mai, C. Albrecht, A. Lankenau, G. Beste, K. Blank, H.E. Gaub, H. Clausen-Schaumann, Proteomics 4 (2004) 1417.
- [218] T. Pawson, P. Nash, Science 300 (2003) 445.
- [219] R. Aasland, C. Abrams, C. Ampe, L.J. Ball, M.T. Bedford, G. Cesareni, M. Gimona, J.H. Hurley, T. Jarchau, V.P. Lehto, M.A. Lemmon, R. Linding, B.J. Mayer, M. Nagai, M. Sudol, U. Walter, S.J. Winder, FEBS Lett. 513 (2002) 141.
- [220] R.R. Copley, T. Doerks, I. Letunic, P. Bork, FEBS Lett. 513 (2002) 129.
- [221] H. Hu, J. Columbus, Y. Zhang, D. Wu, L. Lian, S. Yang, J. Goodwin, C. Luczak, M. Carter, L. Chen, M. James, R. Davis, M. Sudol, J. Rodwell, J.J. Herrero, Proteomics 4 (2004) 643.
- [222] S.S. Sidhu, G.D. Bader, C. Boone, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 7 (2003) 97.
- [223] A. Espejo, J. Cöté, A. Bednarek, S. Richard, M.T. Bedford, Biochem. J. 367 (2002) 697.
- [224] D. Cheng, N. Yadav, R.W. King, M.S. Swanson, E.J. Weinstein, M.T. Bedford, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 23892.
- [225] X.S. Liu, D.L. Brutlag, J.S. Liu, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 835.
- [226] J.R.S. Newman, A.E. Keating, Science 300 (2003) 2097.
- [227] H.I. Chen, M. Sudol, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92 (1995) 7819.
- [228] M. Sudol, T. Hunter, Cell 103 (2000) 1001.
- [229] M.J. Macias, S. Wiesner, M. Sudol, FEBS Lett. 513 (2002) 30.
- [230] M. Sudol, K. Sliwa, T. Russo, FEBS Lett. 490 (2001) 190.
- [231] H.B. Fraser, A.E. Hirsh, D.P. Wall, M.B. Eisen, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 9033.